1979

James G. Cutrubus, dba 7 C's Motors v. Call Investment Company, A Utah Partnership, And S. M. Horman : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action brought by James G. Cutrubus, D/B/A 7 C's Motors, Plaintiff and Appellant, Pro Se, for the return of all structures, buildings, signs, equipment, and other items located on real estate which was sold to Respondent S. M. Horman. Contract clearly stated, that all "structures, buildings, signs, equipment, and other items" were not included in the sale of the property. Respondent Horman then subsequently sold real estate to Call Investment Company with no regard as to his contractual and moral obligations set forth by the agreement, whereby Call Investment Company denied Appellant's rightful claim to his property. The action filed herein seeks to establish priority, reserved by the Appellant, on ownership of the above referenced property, that they were "in fact not" a part of the real estate sale as contract clearly stated, and Appellant's rights and wishes were intentionally, and maliciously disregarded.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Lower Court denied the right of the Appellant to be heard, and to the right of a Due Process trial and hearing through the Courts. Appellant was also denied his right to representation of Counsel. The Lower Court also denied Appellant's Motion and Order to Set Aside Summary Judgment, notwithstanding the fact, that Appellant's attorney, Robert Echard, had withdrawn from the case, and had so informed the Court. Attorney Echard also informed the Lower Court, by letter, that "he found it difficult to understand the ruling made in the Memorandum Decision inasmuch as the Appellant was left without legal representation. Appellant was without knowledge of this decision until so informed by letter from former Attorney Echard."

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Appellant seeks reversal of the Judgment and final Order of the Lower Court which denied the Appellant the right of a Due Process trial and hearing as to the Claim set forth by the Appellant, as well as the right to representation by Counsel resulting from the withdrawal of counsel, Robert Echard, from representation of the Appellant. The Appellant also seeks that the Ruling of the Lower Court be reversed, that he have his day in Court, and the right to be heard, that the Court review all evidential matters and facts not yet heard before the Lower Court, that the Appellant be restored his rightful ownership to all his Claims, including General and Punitive, and any other such relief that the Court deem reasonable.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

For brevity and clarity in this Brief, the references will be made to S. M. Horman, and Call Investment Company as Horman, and Call. References to James G. Cutrubus, D/B/A 7 C's Motors, will be made as Cutrubus.

A complaint was filed with the Lower Court July 11, 1978, by Cutrubus against Horman and Call, stating that on or about the 25th of August 1977, Cutrubus entered into an Option Agreement with Horman, wherein Horman was granted an Option to purchase the real property described in attached "Appeal Exhibit A", provided all structures, buildings, signs, equipment, and other items attached to said property, were not conveyed in said transaction. Horman exercised his contract by letter September 2, 1977, delivered to Cutrubus September 5, 1977, and instructed Cutrubus to remove "all structures, buildings, signs, equipment, and other items attached to the property", as more specifically described in Paragraph 5a of the Option, of the above mentioned letter (Appeal Exhibit B). That the letter from Horman allows 90 days for the removal of Appellant's property. That Paragraph 5a referenced in Horman's letter also allows that "no penalties shall be assessed due to unusual delays in removal of these possessions." That Horman's letter further states that closing be completed "no later than September 6, 1977 through the Hillam Abstracting and Insurance Agency in Brigham City. That details of the closing were deliberately withheld from the closing agent Hillam, who would have properly prepared the documents from the Option, and the letter of September 2, 1977, and restricted the "property and possessions" legally owned by Cutrubus, from the Deeds.

That Horman then simultaneously transferred and sold said real property to Call with the full knowledge of the conditions set forth by the agreement. That the transactions (unbeknown to Cutrubus) were executed simultaneously ("Appeal Exhibits C & D") on September 8, 1977, and deeds were recorded September 9, 1977, 5 minutes apart. Horman further relinquished to Call all interest in said property belonging to Cutrubus, and thus maliciously disregarded Cutrubus's interests. For a man of such financial stature, with real estate expertise and known land values, who in his deposition of November 7, 1978 (exhibit file with court) readily admits, would have this Court believe that he took a \$20,000 loss within an approximate 24hr period.

Cutrubus was unaware that the real estate had changed simultaneously, and was not discovered until late November 1977. In Depositions taken November 7, 1978, on Horman and Call, and in Appellant's complaint, it is apparent that Cutrubus would not have done business with Call.

Appellant's original attorney, David J. Knowlton, having failed to appear in Appellant's behalf, and subsequently having failed to answer, allowed Default Judgment to come about. A continuance was requested of the Lower Court, by the Appellant, but request was denied. On or about April 1, 1978, Appellant solicited the services of Attorney Findley P. Gridley, who unsuccessfully attempted to have the Default set aside. Motion to Set Aside Default was denied, and Counterclaim was dismissed, both without prejudice, June 14, 1978. On February 26, 1978, Attorney Robert R. Echard, Mr. Gridley's associate, withdrew from the case. Appellant has been without counsel, and unable to acquire legal assistance since that time. Complexity of the case and the involvement of previous attorneys, has made it uninviting to other attorneys, and have been refused on every instance, hence the reason for

Appellant filing this Brief Pro Se. It is Appellant's desire not to offend the Court, but Appellant feels that he was not adequately, and properly represented by former attorneys. Files and other legal matter pertaining to this case were not relinquished to the Appellant until March 26, 1979, and April 2, 1979 some 30 days after withdrawal, making it extremely difficult for Appellant to solicit new legal representation to adequately represent himself.

On April 18, 1979, I received a copy of a letter dated April 11, 1979 to the Judge of the Lower Court making reference to a Memorandum Decision against this Appellant. It apparently had been sent to Attorney Echard in error, and he responded to the Lower Court and making reference to previous court actions, "so that the Court will not inadvertently make incorrect ruling in this matter." The Lower Court was contacted immediately on the 19th of April 1:30 PM by telephone and Appellant requested the Lower Court allow Appellant time to secure new counsel. Appellant express his difficulty in acquiring new counsel, even to the extent of approaching, and requesting the assistance of the Utah Bar Association.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

APPELLANT WAS ENTITLED TO REPRESENTATION BY COUNSEL
AND/OR CONTINUANCE OF TRIAL.

This Court has established the general standards of the authority of the Court to grant or deny a continuance of a trial and the general basic grounds and premises that should be used in making a determination as to whether or not a continuance should be allowed.

Rule 40(b) of the Utah rules of Civil procedure sets the general

perimeters of the basis of denying or granting a Motion for postponement of a trial, leaving the matter to the discretion of the Court.

The Courts have generally found that there are limitations of the right of discretion in the Court, and in the case of Bairas v. Johnson, et al, 13Ut. 2d 269, 373 p.2d 375 (July, 1962), this Court reversed the Lower Court and found abuse of discretion on the part of the Court where there was a refusal to grant an additional five-week continuance, even though the Plaintiff had previously been granted a three-month continuance because of his inability to personally attend trial, and the Court held that that where there was no evidence of malingering and where the original three-month continuance was based upon the advice of the Plaintiff's physician's statement as to the ability of the party to be present, that the Court did abuse its discretion in compelling the trial to go forward and in disallowing a continuance. The Court further examined the reasonableness of the exercise of the discretion of the Court and found that it was:

In accord with the most fundamental traditions of our

legal system, that a party should be afforded every reasonable opportunity to be in attendance at his trial.

The Court further held in the Bairas case, that it was not essential, that there be an accompanying Affidavit in a request for the continuance of trial, and stated that Rule 40 (b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure does not expressly require an Affidavit to accompany a Motion for Continuance.

In the instant matter before this Court, the issues involved were very technical issues as to what constituted a valid claim, or Judgment as against the property of the Appellant; together with the priorities and amount of such claims, and in addition to the issue in the present matter before the Court was a serious and important Claim of the Appellant against the Defendants who are the Respondents presently before the Court, namely

Horman and Call, which required the expertise and guidance of an Attorney at Law in order to prevail in this matter at the time of Court.

As has been previously stated in the Statement of Facts, original counsel for the Appellant failed to appear, and the subsequent associate attorneys, more specifically Attorney Echard, who withdrew, it was not represented to the Court by the withdrawing counsel as to why he withdrew, and was not a dilatory tactic on the part of the Appellant to delay the trial or Court, but there was a serious rift between the previous counsel for the Appellant and the Appellant, necessitating the seeking of new counsel. The matter before the Court was not jury trial nor was there danger of a decrease in value of the security, namely the possessions and property of the Appellant, which was the subject matter of the action brought before the Court. The Appellant was totally unable to find any attorney who would be willing to assume the task of a fair and reasonable representation of the Appellant without benefit of having previously had research, and discovery whatsoever, and a reasonable opportunity for preparation as against both the claims of all of the other parties, as well as the presentation of the Appellant's Claim against the Defendants in the Lower Court.

In 48 A. L. R. 2d 1156, there is a large compendium of cases dealing with a right of a continuance based upon the withdrawal or discharge of counsel in civil cases. It is generally agreed that there should be no continuance of a trial by the wilful discharge by a party of his attorney where it would appear that the intent is to seek delay in the action.

In Finch v. Wallberg Dredging Company, 76 Id. 246, 281 P. 2d 136 (Supreme Court of Idaho, 1955), the Court held where Plaintiff's attorney withdrew from the action three days before the date set for trial of a complicated case and where the Plaintiff engaged another attorney to represent

him, that because of the complexity of the action and the immediate other urgent matters of engaged counsel, the counsel was unable to familiarize himself with the facts and the law of the case in the short interval of time before the court date, or trial date, and the Court was so apprised at the time the trial of the matter was called, the refusal of the Trial Court to allow a continuance was a abuse of discretion.

In Leija v. Concha, 39 SW. 2d 948 (Texas Civil App., 1931), the Trial Court refused to grant a continuance in order to permit new counsel to acquaint himself with a case where the plaintiff's counsel withdrew because of the refusal of the plaintiff to accept counsel's recommendation of settlement in the action, the Court held that the denial of a continuance constituted an abuse of discretion in that the Plaintiff had a right to be represented by counsel and that such right is a valuable right, and in order for counsel to properly represent a client, counsel must have an opportunity to familiarize himself with the facts and law of the case.

In Griffin v. Russell, 161 Ky. 471, 170 SW 1192 (Supreme Court of Kentucky, 1914), the Court held that the Trial Court committed reversible error in overruling a Motion for a Continuance and in forcing the Defendant into trial, even though the Defendant thereafter succeeded in procuring a competent lawyer to represent him trial. The Supreme Court Holding:

It is well known that very few lawyers, however able they may be, can properly defend an important case involving complicated issues of fact and nice questions of law, upon the spur of the moment, but preparation is not only proper, but necessary, for the orderly, prompt administration of justice, as well as for the protection of the client's interest, and that, by postponing the trial for a day Defendant would have had an opportunity of recovering from the misfortunes shown by his Affidavit.

In Fidelity-Phoenix Fire Insurance Company v. Oliver, 25 Tenn. App. 114, 152 SW 2d 254 (1941), was a matter wherein Defendant's counsel asked for a continuance until the next term of the Court on the ground that counsel was engaged in trying another case, and the Court set the case for trial nine days later, whereupon counsel withdrew from the case and Defendant, being informed by counsel of his withdrawal, retained other counsel four days thereafter, and the new counsel on the trial date moved to set aside a Default Judgment in the case entered by the Court two days before, the Court held that the Court had abused its discretion in denying such Motion, since the Court had failed to continue the case a sufficient time to permit the Defendant to employ other counsel and enable the new counsel to investigate the case and make a defense.

In Lowe v. Arlington, 453 SW. 2d 379 (Texas Civil App.), the Court held that in an action of eminent domain, which sought to deprive a party of his property and where the Defendant's attorney had withdrawn from the case, it was the duty of the Court to continue the case for a sufficient length of time to allow the Defendant to employ other counsel and to enable new counsel to investigate the case and make a defense, in that no person should be deprived of his property or denied any of his rights except by Due Process of Law. Inasmuch as the Appellant was deprived of his right of Due Process of Law, in this lawsuit, and no evidence of oral proceedings, or transcript reported by the Court Reporter of the Lower Court (Appeal Exhibit "E") fully manifests and evidences the total inability of the Appellant to represent himself as a Plaintiff, and claimant with a complete lack of understanding of any proceeding of law. That the Appellant being totally incapable of representing himself, both as to the validity, and the amount of the Claims against the Defendants, with the ac-

tion seeking to deprive him of his buildings, structures, signs, equipment, and other items located on certain real estate. In addition, the Appellant had a valid Claim which he was totally incapable of pursuing by reason of lack of counsel.

In Gonzales v. Harris, 542 P. 2d 842 (Supreme Court of Colorado, November 1975), the Supreme Court of Colorado stated that the denial of a Motion for a Continuance because of the unavoidable absence of a party during litigation is grounds for the granting of a new trial, in that the attendance of litigant is necessary for a fair presentation of his case.

The Colorado Supreme Court further stated in both the Gonzales v. Harris, *supra*, and Layne v. Gooding, *supra*, That:

**The trial Court's legitimate concern for the prevention of delay in the trial of cases should not prejudice the substantial rights of parties by forcing them to go to trial without being able to fairly present their case.

In Western Union Telegraph Company v. Suit, 153 Fla. 490, 15 So.2d 33 (1943), the Court held that it was improper to deny a continuance where it appears that the party acted with the requisite diligence and good faith, and that substantial prejudice would result from a refusal to delay the cause.

In State v. Blakeslee, 131 Mont. 47, 306 P. 2d 1103 (1957), where the Defendant's previously engaged attorney was allowed to withdraw and new counsel made a Motion for Continuance three days prior to trial and the same was denied. The Court held that the same constituted reversible error, the Court stating that it was of no importance how much time the Defendant and his original attorney might have had to prepare for trial since inherent in the appointment of new counsel was a recognition of the