1979

James G. Cutrubus, dba 7 C's Motors v. Call Investment Company, A Utah Partnership, And S. M. Horman : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This matter involves the question as to whether or not the Appellant was adequately represented in two separate lawsuits involving ownership of certain personal property located on real estate conveyed by the Appellant to Respondent, S. M. Horman, who in turn conveyed said real estate to Respondent, Call Investment.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

On March 21, 1978, Judge Venoy Christofferson executed a Judgment by Default in favor of Call Investment Company, as Plaintiff against James G. Cutrubus restraining

Cutrubus from entering upon certain premises and removing any property or interfering with Plaintiff's peaceful enjoyment of said property.

On or about July, 1978, Cutrubus as Plaintiff filed a Complaint against both Respondents alleging the property in question was his. The Respondents filed a Motion for Summary Judgment contending that the earlier case resolved the same issues and they were therefore entitled to Judgment on the grounds of Res Judicata. The Court granted Respondents Motions for Summary Judgment and the Appellant appealed when his Motions to Set Aside the Judgment were denied. Appellant further contends he was not properly represented by counsel despite the fact that the record demonstrates he was represented by several attorneys in both cases.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants, S. M. Horman and Call Investment Company, seek to have the Summary Judgment entered below affirmed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Respondent adopts the Statement of Facts as set forth in Respondent, Call Investment Company's Brief. However, it should be noted in the first Case No. 14311, Cutrubus, as a Defendant was represented by David G. Knowlton and Findley P. Gridly and that in the second Case No. 14603

the Defendant was represented by Robert A. Echard.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

APPELLANT WAS LEGALLY REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL.

THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANTS MOTION TO SET ASIDE JUDGMENT OR GRANT A CONTINUANCE.

In the first action, Call Investment Company vs: Cutrubus, Civil No. 14311, filed in this matter, the Appellant was represented by David K. Knowlton. It is the contention of the Appellant that the legal representation was inadequate. This Court has consistently ruled that the negligence of an attorney in not responding to suit pleadings is not grounds for setting aside a Default Judgment. Mountain State Telephone and Telegraph Department of Labor and Employment, 520 P2d, 586 (Colorado 1974), 7 Am Jur 2d, Attorneys at Law, Section 110.

Appellant further contends that he requested a continuance which was improperly denied. The record does not disclose such a Motion ever being filed. Again, this court, consistent with the general rule of law, has ruled that it is not an abuse of discretion for the Trial Court to refuse to grant a continuance because counsel withdraws from the case. Van Cott vs: Wall, 53 Ut, 282, 178 P. 41 (1919); Security Adjustment Bureau Inc., vs: West, 20 Ut, 2d 292, 437, P2d, 214 (1968).

The record does disclose that Cutrubus did retain the services of another attorney, Findley P. Gridley. An effort was made to set aside the default judgment which was unsuccessful. Appellant then filed an independent action entitled Cutrubus vs: Call Investment Company and S. M. Horman, Case No. 14608, which involved the identical issues. Judge Christofferson recognized that the same facts and legal issues were involved so he granted Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment upon the grounds of Res Judicata. Attorney, Robert Echard represented Cutrubus in this second case.

It appears clear that the Appellant has had his day in Court on two separate occasions and he was represented by counsel in both instances. The apparent difficulty Appellant has in retaining counsel is not grounds for denying Respondents the relief they seek.

Although the question has not been specifically and directly raised as to whether or not a party has a constitutional right to be represented by counsel in a civil matter, the cases indicate that such representation is not a right. In Re Smiley, 330 N.E. 2d 53 (N.Y. Court of Appeals 1973); Boddie vs: Connecticut, 4014 S. 371 (1971).

Respondent submits that even if Appellant's attorneys were as incompetent and negligent as he contends, his remedy

is against his former attorneys. The Respondent should not be compelled to incur additional expense and be deprived of a just judgment, simply because Appellant cannot get along with his attorneys.

POINT 2

APPELLANT'S CLAIM IS BARRED BY RES JUDICATA

In Case No. 14311, Respondent, Call brought an action against Cutrubus alleging that Cutrubus had conveyed by Warranty Deed all his right, title and interest in and to the property without reservation to S. M. Horman. Call was therefore entitled to the quiet and peaceful enjoyment of the property purchased from S. M. Horman in good faith. Although the Appellant did not file a formal pleading in the matter, he did appear in person and with his counsel, David G. Knowlton at the hearing for the preliminary injunction which was granted. The final judgment entered on March 21, 1978 was never appealed by Cutrubus. The Court was therefore clearly complying with the law where he ruled in the 2nd case that the principle of the Res Judicata applied and granted Respondents' Motions for Summary Judgment. If Res Judicata were not recognized controversial matters could never be concluded.


CONCLUSION

This matter should now be put to rest. Appellant has been represented by Counsel, and he has had his day in

court. Judge Venoy Christofferson properly granted Respondents Motion's for Summary Judgment.